
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Ian Fry <Ifry@pegasus.com.au>, Laura Ivers <laurai@iisd.org>, Leila Mead
<leila@interport.net>, Mark Schulman <markschulman@hotmail.com> and Anny Wong, Ph.D <annywong@compuserve.com>. Digital editing by David Fernau
<david@virtualstockholm.net> and logistics by Juana Espasa <espasa@hotmail.com>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor is Langston
James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the
United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape, and the United Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID). General
Support for the Bulletin during 1999 is provided by the German Federal Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation (BMZ), the
Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Community (DG-XI), the Ministries of Environment and Foreign Affairs of Austria, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and
Environment of Norway, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Ministry of Environment of Finland, the Government of Sweden, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP),
the Global Environment Facility (GEF) and the Ministry for the Environment in Iceland. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at<enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax:
+1-212-644-0206. IISD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada. The opinions expressed in
the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used
in non-commercial publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor.
Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/. The satellite image was taken
above Nairobi, Kenya, (c)1999 The Living Earth, Inc. http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.

��������	 �� ��� ������������ �������� ��� ����������� ����������� ����Vol. 13 N o. 54 Friday, 14  M ay 1999

Earth Negotiations Bulletin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development NegotiationsIIS

D
�����

���

HIGHLIGHTS OF IFF-3
WEDNESDAY AND THURSDAY,

12-13 MAY 1999
On the eighth day of IFF-3, delegates met in a morning Plenary 

to further deliberate international mechanisms and arrangements. 
WG1 convened to finalize Co-Chairs’ Reports on forest conserva-
tion and protected areas, forest research and monitoring progress in 
implementation. WG2 met briefly to hear contact group reports. A 
contact group to negotiate text on WG2 programme elements met 
throughout the day. Contact groups on trade and environment, 
transfer of ESTs, and international mechanisms and arrangements 
met intermittently throughout the day and into the night. Although 
regular sessions were not held on Thursday, due to a holiday, the 
contact group on international mechanisms and arrangements 
reconvened.

PLENARY
Co-Chair Ristamäki opened the Plenary to resume discussion 

on international arrangements and mechanisms. On the need for 
consensus on international arrangements and mechanisms, 
AUSTRALIA supported an action-oriented approach and reference 
to monitoring progress in implementing the IPF and IFF proposals. 
On the proposal to analyze arrangements and mechanisms, 
CANADA, supported by the RUSSIAN FEDERATION and 
GABON, suggested an additional function ensuring the strongest 
level of commitment to SFM. He also proposed an additional 
element relating to effective governance of a forest agenda and 
proposed voluntary mechanisms, existing LBIs and a new LBI as 
options for future arrangements. BENIN, supported by GABON, 
said that existing instruments are inadequate and supported an LBI. 
The EU said that elements should relate to future global forest 
policy dialogue. He reformulated an element to refer to a forum for 
the promotion of trade in sustainably produced forest goods. On 
international cooperation, BRAZIL added reference to technology 
transfer and new and additional financial resources.

On preparation for IFF-4, the EU proposed adding text to elabo-
rate on basic functions of the global forest policy dialogue beyond 
2000. The US, supported by BRAZIL, suggested including refer-
ence to cost implications. CUBA proposed text regarding a matrix 
combining elements of existing instruments and mechanisms. 
AUSTRALIA called for an analysis of options, inter alia, 
improved coordination of existing arrangements, a new permanent 
forum for intergovernmental dialogue, designation of an existing 
organization as the lead body, and a new global legal instrument.

WORKING GROUP 1
In conclusions on forest conservation and protected areas, the 

G-77/CHINA suggested adding watershed protection as a benefit 
and the US added reference to biodiversity and ecological func-
tions. On adopting policies towards forest conservation, TURKEY 
stressed the introduction of appropriate legislation. Regarding the 
IUCN definition of protected areas, the EU recognized it as one of 
several existing definitions and said categories being developed 
need to be flexible and encompass the range of forest protection 
regimes worldwide. On awareness of forest conservation benefits, 
INDONESIA called to include biological resources and noted the 
need to emphasize international cooperation for forest conserva-
tion. Regarding proposals for action, AUSTRALIA added text 
recalling relevant IPF proposals. On proposed commitment to the 
conservation and representativeness of all types of forests, 
ESTONIA requested, and BRAZIL opposed, deletion of represen-
tativeness. The US suggested that countries be encouraged to iden-
tify conservation as necessary and consistent with national 
priorities. CANADA called for commitment to protection and 
conservation. On development and implementation of conservation 
strategies and integral elements, BRAZIL suggested adding 
emphasis on the continued integrity of genetic diversity. The US 
called to delete, and COLOMBIA opposed, integration of indige-
nous peoples “rights.”

On recognition of forest protected areas under the stewardship 
of private owners, NIGERIA and BRAZIL, opposed by the US, 
preferred the term control. Regarding criteria for identifying new 
protected areas, the EU, supported by EGYPT, called for criteria on 
adequacy, consistency and effectiveness. 

On innovative mechanisms for financing forest conservation, 
JAPAN, TURKEY and the EU, opposed by AUSTRALIA, 
proposed deleting reference to the Clean Development Mechanism 
and Joint Implementation activities of the Kyoto Protocol. The EU 
proposed, and BRAZIL opposed, replacing this reference with 
possible returns from carbon sequestration. ESTONIA suggested 
bracketing reference to private law contracts in protected area 
management regimes. INDONESIA proposed, and CHILE 
opposed, deleting reference to tax deductions for private forest 
conservation. On establishing joint protected areas, the US 
proposed, and BRAZIL opposed, deleting reference to corridors of 
global significance. On providing resources to support forest 
conservation, the US suggested, and INDONESIA, the G-77/
CHINA and BRAZIL opposed, deleting language on providing 
adequate resources and technology transfer. 



Friday, 14 May 1999  Vol. 13 No. 54 Page 2
����� ��	
�����
� ��������

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Regarding the use of IUCN categories for protected areas, 
INDONESIA called for deletion of legal objectives in relation to 
protected areas management. The FAO suggested, and 
AUSTRALIA opposed, deleting reference to IUCN categories. 
The CBD proposed taking account of its own work. Regarding 
international financial institutions and improving coordination, 
BRAZIL proposed language referring to market access and protec-
tive measures. The EU suggested bracketing the whole paragraph.

Regarding forest research conclusions, AUSTRALIA, 
supported by the US, proposed emphasizing the importance of 
engaging major groups in identifying priorities in improved forest 
research mechanisms. On proposals for action, AUSTRALIA, 
supported by the US and CHILE, proposed improving linkages 
between forest science and policy by creating opportunities for 
policymakers, scientists and other stakeholders to provide research 
guidance at the national level. The EU emphasized particular atten-
tion on research on underlying causes of deforestation and degrada-
tion and examining new ways of mobilizing funding. BRAZIL, 
supported by GABON, called on international organizations and 
financial institutions to fund forest research in developing coun-
tries. On strengthening research networks, BRAZIL proposed 
reference to joint ventures between public and private sectors.

On a conclusion on monitoring progress in implementation, the 
US, the G-77/CHINA and others agreed that all countries should 
give greater priority to financial and technical assistance to 
strengthen capacity building in developing countries. BRAZIL 
sought clarification on the validity of synthesized information and 
reiterated the importance of adequate financial resources for moni-
toring and reporting at the national level. The US proposed text 
recognizing the costs involved in information collection. INDO-
NESIA supported the EU proposal on the need for effective feed-
back mechanisms. BRAZIL, supported by the G-77/CHINA and 
AUSTRALIA, and opposed by CANADA and the US, suggested 
an additional proposal requesting adequate financial resources for 
capacity building to support national reporting.

CONTACT GROUPS
TRADE AND ENVIRONMENT: The contact group on trade 

and environment reached no agreement on references to sustain-
ably managed forest products, in the context of market transpar-
ency, and forest biological resources. While some developed 
countries opposed including reference to trade liberalization, 
developing countries said it was essential for SFM promotion. The 
group discussed a suggestion to add text urging that C&L schemes 
promote SFM. Developing countries said consensus could not be 
reached until the trade liberalization issue was resolved. These 
proposals were bracketed and will be forwarded to IFF-4. 

TRANSFER OF ESTs: The contact group on EST transfer did 
not reach consensus on text regarding developing technologies. A 
group of developing countries indicated their preference for more 
active and operational language and proposed adding a paragraph 
in the proposals to reflect this. Most developed countries felt that 
developing technologies is not within the purview of government.

 WG2 PROGRAMME ELEMENTS: The contact group on 
WG2 programme elements discussed economic instruments, future 
supply and demand and financial resources. On economic instru-
ments, a proposed conclusion was accepted recognizing the exten-
sive effects on the forest sector of macroeconomic policies. Also 
accepted was a conclusion noting that developments and inconsis-
tent policies in other sectors can lead to unintended changes in the 
forest sector and can undermine the use of forest policy tools. Dele-

gates did not reach consensus regarding a proposal on the develop-
ment of transparent goals and conditions in SAPs. A group of 
developing countries called for replacement text requesting inter-
national lending and financial organizations to consider mitigating 
the impacts of SAPs on forests consistent with SFM. 

On future supply and demand conclusions, delegates added 
“natural forests” and “planted forests” as increasing sources of 
wood fiber in some regions. A proposal to consider the impact of 
policies on  consumption and production patterns and on market 
efficiency was deleted. A proposal to add reference to local and/or 
indigenous communities to a paragraph on ownership was 
accepted. 

In the proposals for action, delegates deleted a proposal to 
segregate data on products derived from plantations and those from 
natural forests. Delegates concurred on adopting an internationally 
agreed definition of “planted forests” instead of “forest planta-
tions.” Delegates agreed policies promoting sustainable production 
of wood and non-wood forest goods and services should encourage 
equitable distribution of benefits from such activities to the people 
who protect and provide them. A new proposal recognizing that 
appropriate prices can encourage and support SFM was accepted. 
On the need for financial resources, delegates discussed, but did not 
agree on, two conclusions regarding sources of funding for SFM in 
developing countries and strategies for mobilizing resources. 

INTERNATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS AND MECHA-
NISMS: Discussion centered on guidance to the Secretariat for 
IFF-4 preparations to support deliberations on possible elements of 
and work towards consensus on international arrangements and 
mechanisms. Delegates agreed the Secretariat’s report should elab-
orate possible functions of international arrangements and mecha-
nisms, possible elements for future work in this area and an 
analysis of various options. Regarding possible elements, delegates 
debated whether the work or the results of the IPF and the IFF 
should form the basis. Delegates did not agree on whether specific 
reference should be made to country-led initiatives. On analysis of 
options, delegates agreed that such arrangements and mechanisms 
would further develop the international forest policy dialogue for 
action. On designation of a lead body as an option for analysis, one 
regional group proposed, and others opposed, singling out the FAO 
as an example. As a result, delegates agreed to delete all examples 
of institutions and instruments in the options. A new proposal for 
analysis, relating to a framework convention allowing for regional 
mechanisms, was included. 

IN THE CORRIDORS
While some delegates feel that the debate on technology 

transfer is close to resolution, others believe that a significant 
North-South divide remains. Some delegates are hoping that a 
regional group will come forward with an olive branch.

THINGS TO LOOK FOR TODAY
PLENARY:  Plenary will meet at 10:00 am in Salle XIX to 

further discuss international arrangements and mechanisms and to 
consider and adopt Co-Chairs’ Reports.


